## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS D. HALL

JAN 3 1 2001

CLERK SUPREME COURT BY\_\_\_\_\_

TIMOTHY LEE HURST,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO.: SC00-1042

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO.201170

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the clerk's record will be designated with the prefix "R" followed by the volume and page number. The transcript will be similarly designated with the prefix "T." An appendix is attached to this brief containing a copy of the penalty phase trial transcript, the sentencing hearing before the judge, counsels' sentencing memoranda and the trial court's sentencing and written order. References to the appendix will be designated with the prefix "App."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## Procedural Progress Of The Case

On May 26, 1998, an Escambia County grand jury returned an indictment charging Timothy Lee Hurst with first degree murder for the death of Cynthia Harrison. (R1:1-2) The indictment alleged both premeditation and felony murder with robbery as the underlying felony. (T1:1-2) Hurst proceeded to a jury trial on March 20, 2000. (T1:1) On March 23, 2000, the jury found Hurst guilty as charged. (R3:448; T5:942) A penalty phase trial commenced and ended on afternoon of that same day, and the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of eleven to one. (T5:946-1002) (App. A) The trial court set the sentencing hearing for April 17, 2000, and the sentencing for April 26, 2000. (T5:1003; R3:465, 468) (App. B)

Circuit Judge Joseph Q. Tarbuck sentenced Timothy Hurst to death on April 26, 2000. (R3:468-495) (App. B) In the sentencing order (App. D), the court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) the homicide was committed during a robbery; (2) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel; and (3) the homicide was committed to avoid or prevent arrest. (R3:482-485) (App.D) In mitigation, the court listed ten factors in the sentencing order and found as follows: (1) The defendant acted under the

substantial dominion of another person -- the court rejected and gave the factor no weight. (R3:485-486) (App.D)

- (2) The capacity of the defendant was substantially impaired -- the court found no evidence of substantial impairment and gave the factor little weight. (R3:486-487) (App. D)
- (3) The defendant exhibited good conduct throughout the trial -- the court found the factor established but gave it little weight. (R3:487) (App. D)
- (4) The defendant has a good family background -- the court rejected and gave the factor no weight. (R3:487)(App. D)
- (5) The defendant has no prior criminal history -- the court found the factor and gave it moderate weight.(R3:487)(App. D)
- (6) The defendant contributed to the community by assisting his church and neighbors -- the court found the factor "has not been established to any appreciable degree" and gave the factor little weight. (R3:487) (App. D)
- (7) The defendant maintained regular church attendance -- the court found the factor "has not been established to any appreciable degree" and gave the factor little weight. (R3:488)(App. D)
- (8) The defendant lacks future dangerousness -- the court rejected on the basis that no evidence was presented and gave the factor no weight. (R3:488)(App. D)

- (9) The defendant assisted his mother and father and cared for younger siblings -- the court found the factor and gave it moderate weight. (R3:488) (App. D)
- (10) The age of the Defendant, 18 years-old at the time of the offense -- the court stated "the Defendant's age should not be considered as a mitigating factor and to this the Court will give very little weight." (R3:488)(App. D)

Hurst filed a motion for new trial which the trial court denied. (R3:497-500) Hurst filed his notice of appeal to this Court on May 8, 2000. (R3:501)

# Facts -- Prosecution's Case

The body of Cynthia Harrison was discovered on the morning of Saturday, May 2, 1998, inside the freezer at the Popeye's Restaurant where she worked as an assistant manager. (T2:211, 220-223, 233-235, 241-243) Harrison's body was on some boxes inside the freezer. (T2:233, 242) Her hands were bound behind her back with black electrical tape, and she also had tape over her mouth. (T2:242-243) She had numerous stab wounds to her body. (T2:242) The floor in the rear of the restaurant where the freezer was located was wet as if it had been washed. (T2:253, 271; T4:656) A utility box cutter was found on a baker's rack which proved to have blood stains consistent with Harrison's blood inside the handle of the

cutter. (T2:244; T4:623-625) Although box cutters were used in the restaurant, the cutter found was not the same type as the ones used. (T2:389-391) The safe was unlocked and bank deposit slips were on the floor. (T2:221) A bank deposit prepared from the previous day's receipts and a plastic box containing \$375 in small bills and change, which should have been in the safe, were not there. (T2:223-224, 339) The door to the restaurant was locked with automatic locks, and they had to be opened with a key. (T2:208-209, 211, 337) The manager and the two assistant managers were the only persons who had a key to the restaurant and the combination to the safe. (T2:332-333) A small window at the drivethrough was unlocked. (T2:221)

Dr. Michael Berkland, an associate medical examiner, arrived at the restaurant and began his examination of the body. (T4:653-655) He found over 60 incised and stab wounds on the body. (T4:657-658) Based on his observations of blood at the scene, he concluded that the wounds were inflicted after Harrison was inside the main freezer. (T4:658, 667) These wounds were consistent with having been caused by the box cutter found at the scene. (T4:655-656) Berkland found wounds to the back of the head, the face, neck, chest and arms. (T4:661-664) The wounds contributing to the cause of death were the ones to the neck, which cut the trachea and

jugular vein, and the ones to the chest, which perforated the lung. (T4:665-666) Berkland rendered an opinion that the wounds were all administered within one to two minutes. (T4:665-666) He concluded that Harrison survived for less than fifteen minutes. (T4:665-670)

Cynthia Harrison was scheduled to work at 8:00 a.m. on the morning of May 2, 1998, with the responsibility to open the restaurant for the day. (T2:331) Timothy Hurst was also to work at Anthony Brown, was to arrive for work at 9:00 8:00 a.m. (T2:331) a.m. (T2: 207) Another assistant manager, Tonya Crenshaw, planned to arrive at the restaurant at 10:30 a.m. (T2:220) Brown arrived early for work, between 8:05 and 8:15 a.m. (T2:212-213) He found the door locked, and he waited outside the restaurant. (T2:209) Brown did not see Timothy Hurst that day or Hurst's car. (T2:210, Brown stated that a delivery truck arrived about five minutes after he did. (T2:212-213) Although the driver of the truck, Raymond Curtis, did not testify, the State and the defense stipulated in the defense case that he would have testified that he arrived at 8:10 a.m. (T4:716) Janet Pugh, who worked at a Popeye's in another part of town, telephoned the Popeye's where Harrison worked at 7:55 a.m., and spoke to Harrison to inform her to expect the delivery truck which had just left the Popeye's where Pugh worked. (T2:285-290) Pugh and Harrison spoke for about four or

five minutes. (T2: 290) Another employee, Anthony Brown knew as Andre, arrived around 10:00 a.m. (T2:213-214) Tonya Crenshaw arrived at 10:30 a.m., and she found the two employees and the truck driver waiting outside the restaurant. (T2:220-221) Crenshaw opened the door, and she and the truck driver found Harrison's body. (T2:222-223)

David Kladitis knew and remembered Cynthia Harrison from his experience as a customer at Popeye's. (T2:291-292) On the morning of May 2, 1998, Kladitis was in a parking lot around 7:20 a.m. waiting for a feed store to open. (T2:292-293, 295) He saw Cynthia Harrison driving down Palafox road. (T2:292-293) They saw each other and exchanged waves. (T2:292-293, 295-296) Kladitis noticed that the vehicle behind Harrison's was a large, blue sedan driven by a black male. (T2:293) After hearing on the news that Harrison had been killed. Kladitis contacted the sheriff's department.(T2:293, 295) Investigator Donald Nesmith Kladitis photographs of four automobiles, and Kladitis picked the photo of Timothy Hurst's car, a Grand Marquis. (T2:293-294, 296-297; T3:516, 518-520)

Carl Hess worked at the Wendy's restaurant located near the Popeye's restaurant. (T2:299) Hess knew Cynthia Harrison. (T2:299) At 7:00 a.m. on May 2, 1998, Hess began cleaning the parking area

outside Wendy's. (T2:300) Between 7:00 and 8:30 a.m., Hess saw Harrison arrive at Popeye's. (T2:300) Between 7:30 and 8:30 a.m., Hess saw a man drive up to Popeye's in a blue Ford Taurus. (T2:301) He parked the car on the side of the building in a space near the pay telephone. (T2:301) The man was about six feet tall and weighed between 280 and 300 pounds. (T2:303) He wore a Popeye's uniform shirt and blue pants. (T2:302-303) He also wore a baseball cap facing backwards. (T2:302) The man banged on the glass window until someone let him inside. (T2:303) Hess did not again see the man. (T2:303) Hess recognized the man as someone he had seen working at Popeye's. (T2:304) The man had also submitted a job application at Wendy's at one time. (T2:304) Hess remembered the name as Timothy Hudson. (T2:305) Hess identified Timothy Hurst in court as the man he saw. (T2:305-306)

Lee-Lee Smith and Timothy Hurst were friends, and they lived in the same neighborhood. (T3:395-396) At the time of the homicide, Lee-Lee was fifteen-years-old and lived at home with his parents. (T3:371-372) On the morning of Saturday, May 2, 1998, Timothy came to Lee-Lee's house about 8:30 a.m. (T3:396) Timothy carried a clear container with money in it, and he told Lee-Lee that it came from Popeye's. (T3:396-397) Lee-Lee hid the money in his room. (T3:398) According to Lee-Lee, Timothy stated the previous Friday night that

he was going to rob Popeye's. (T3:396) Timothy allegedly told Lee-Lee that he cut and killed the manager and put her in the freezer. (T3:397, 400) Timothy had spots of blood on his brown khaki pants, and Lee-Lee washed them in the washing machine. (T3:399, 412) Since the dryer did not work, Timothy dried the pants by ironing them. (T3:398) Lee-Lee threw Timothy's socks and shoes he had been wearing in the garbage can. (T3:399-400) In addition to the clear container of money, Timothy also had a lady's wallet including identification and a bank bag. (T3:398-399,417-421) Lee-Lee also threw the bank bag and wallet in the garbage can behind his house. (T3:399-400, 421) Later that morning, Timothy, Lee-Lee, and Timothy's brother, Jermaine, went to Wal-Mart where Timothy bought a pair of shoes for \$30. (T3:401) Sales records at Wal-Mart reflected a purchase of shoes that morning at 10:10 a.m. for \$31.97. (T3:484-487) They also went to a pawn shop where Timothy saw rings he wanted to purchase. (T3:402) After returning to Lee-Lee's house where he obtained \$300 to \$500, Timothy returned to the pawn shop and bought three rings for \$300. (T3:402-403, 432-433) Robert Little, operator of the USA Pawn Shop, stated that a heavyset, black man bought three rings the morning of May 2, 1998, sometime after 10:00 a.m. for approximately \$300. (T3:487-491) The man paid in cash. (T3:491, 495) Little later identified a photograph of Timothy Hurst as the man who purchased the rings. (T3:491, 502-504)

Lee-Lee's parents, Eunease and Lee Ernest Smith, had been out of town on the weekend of the homicide. (T2:371) Upon returning on Sunday, they learned that the police wanted to speak to Lee-Lee. (T2:372) Eunease Smith looked through Lee-Lee's room. (T2:372) She found a cookie can and a clear box both containing money at the top of the closet. (T2:373-374) She called the police and turned the containers over to them. (T2:377) Investigators interviewed Lee-Lee and searched the garbage can in the yard. (T3:500-501, 518, 572)

Investigators searched the garbage can and retrieved several items of evidence. (T3:572-597) Among the items found inside the garbage can were a black leather coin purse with Cynthia Harrison's driver's license, a First Union bank bag marked with "Popeye's" and "Cynthia." (T3:573) Inside the bank bag, Hallmark found a deposit slip, two socks which appeared to have blood stains, a sheet of notebook paper marked "Lee Smith, language lab", keys and a pencil. (T3:573-581) On the back of the language lab paper were several numbers added and one number was the same and the amount on the deposit slip. (T3: 446-449) Lee-Lee Smith handed the investigators a pair of shoes which appeared to have blood stains on them. (T3:499-500)

Investigator Donald Nesmith interviewed Timothy Hurst, and Hurst related his activities on the day of the homicide and consented to a search of his car. (T3:516, 520-542, 549, 561) Timothy awoke around 7:30 a.m. and left his house at 7:45 a.m. (T3:523) He had car trouble, and it stopped on Untreiner Street. (T3:523) Timothy managed to get his car running enough to reach his the house of his friend, Andre. (T3:524) He asked Andre to use his telephone, but Andre's mother was using the phone at the time. (T3:524) Timothy went across the street and used a pay phone at an E-Z Serve next to the ballpark. (T3:524-525) He called Popeye's, spoke to Cynthia and told her he would not be able to come to work. (T3:526) Cynthia's voice did not sound normal. (T3:527-529) Timothy thought her voice had a "scary tone" and he also heard whispering in the background. (T3:527-529) Cynthia did not ask Timothy for any reasons why he could not come to work. (T3:529) Timothy thought that was unusual. (T3:529)

Timothy went to Lee-Lee's house, arriving at 8:00 a.m. (T3:530) The two of them returned to Timothy's house, where Timothy changed out of his work clothes. (T3:530-531, 535-536) Timothy agreed to take his younger brother and his friend to the pawn shop. (T3:530-531) All four -- Timothy, his brother, his brother's friend, and Lee-Lee -- went to the USA Pawn shop across

from Wal-Mart. (T3:530-531) Since the younger boys thought someone had to be 18 years-old to purchase items at the pawn shop, Timothy bought two necklaces for them using his brother's money. (T3:532-533) After the pawn shop trip, Timothy and Lee-Lee then went to the Timothy's cousin's apartment. (T3:533-534) Timothy estimated the time he arrived there as between 8:00 and 8:20 a.m. (T3:534) His mother called him at the apartment between 1:00 and 1:30 p.m. and told him the police were looking for him. (T3:534)

Investigators took a new pair of size 14 shoes with a sales ticket and three rings from the Hurst's home. (T3:502-503, 542-543) They also took the black tennis shoes and tan pants that Timothy wore at the time. (T3:544, 558-561) Robert Little from the USA Pawn Shop identified photographs of the rings as the ones he sold. (T3:490-491, 502-503)

Michael Williams was a friend of Timothy Hurst's. (T2:320) The night before Timothy was arrested, he allegedly made a statement to Michael Williams about the homicide. (T2:321) Timothy allegedly told Williams that he had an argument with a woman and she retaliated. (T2:321) Timothy said he hit her and cut her with a box cutter. (T2:321) Hurst then said he tied her up and put her in the freezer. (T2:321) Timothy said he did not want the woman to see his face. (T2:322) Williams said on an earlier occasion, he heard

Timothy Hurst and Lee-Lee Smith talking about a plan to rob Popeye's. (T2:322) Williams did not take this conversation seriously since they were high at the time. (T2:322)

Anthony Williams spent time in the same cell with Timothy Hurst after Hurst's arrest. (T2:356) Anthony Williams' father is Michael Williams' grandfather's brother. (T2:360) Hurst allegedly discussed the Popeye's murder while in the cell. (T2:358) He said he participated in the homicide, but someone else was also with him when the crime occurred. (T2:358) Anthony Williams said that Hurst did not identify the person. (T2:358) On cross-examination, defense counsel confronted Williams with a deposition in which he had stated that Hurst identified Lee-Lee and Mike Williams as being involved in the crime. (T2:362-363)

Willie Griffin, Jr. spent time in the Escambia County jail with Timothy Hurst, but he was in federal prison at the time of his testimony. (T2:363-364) Griffin said he had a conversation with Hurst about the murder case. (T2:365) Griffin said he asked Hurst if he dreamed or thought about the incident. (T2:365) Hurst allegedly said, "I did that swine and "F" the rest of them." (T2:365) Hurst also said that something was wrong with her mentally, and they did not get along. (T2:365) Griffin admitted on

cross-examination that when he approached the police with this information he never mentioned the Popeye's murder. (T2:369)

Willie Williams knew Timothy Hurst. (T2:352) They were in Derrick Clark's car on April 29, 1998. (T2:352-354) Timothy was playing with a box cutter found in Clark's car, and he accidentally cut Williams with the cutter. (T2:352-353) Williams never again saw that box cutter. (T2:354-354) Williams said that the box cutter was similar to the one shown to him which was found at the homicide scene, but it was not the same one. (T2:354-356)

A search of Hurst's car revealed two types of electrical tape. (T3:477, 481-484) In the trunk, investigators found a roll of older tape which could not have been the source of the tape used to bind the victim. (T3:484; T4:739) Some tape used to splice speaker wiring in the car was of a different type. (T3:481-484; T4:735-739) This was the same type of tape found on the victim, but there were no unique characteristics from which to conclude if the tape actually came from the same source. (T3:479-484; T4:735-739)

Jack Remus, a serology expert, examined and tested several items of evidence for the presence of blood. (T4:620-652) On the box cutter found at the scene, Remus found traces of blood and DNA typing showed the blood was consistent with that of Cynthia Harrison. (T4:623-625) He found no blood on the tan work pants

seized from Hurst. (T4:621-622) There were no traces of blood found on floor mats, a steering wheel cover, and a brake pedal from Hurst's car. (T4:646-648) A pair of blue pants taken from Lee-Lee Smith house also tested negative for traces of blood. (T4:626) Shoes obtained at Lee-Lee Smith's house had positive chemical reactions for traces of blood, but the quantity was too small for DNA typing. (T4:625-626) Socks retrieved from Lee-Lee Smith's house had blood stains which proved to be consistent with the DNA of Cynthia Harrison. (T4:626-628)

Paul Norkus, a fingerprint examiner with FDLE, compared various latent fingerprints found on items of evidence. (T4:607-620) He found four of Lee-Lee Smith's fingerprints on the bank bag found in the trash can behind Lee-Lee Smith's house. (T4:611) Timothy Hurst's fingerprints were on the deposit slip found inside the bag. (T4:610-611) The plastic storage box had two fingerprints belonging to Lee-Lee Smith. (T4:611)

## Facts -- Defense Case

Hurst presented several witnesses who saw him on the day of the homicide. Willie Bright, the father of Andre Cary, who also worked at the Popeye's, saw Timothy Hurst on the morning of the homicide between 7:30 and 9:00 a.m. (T4:694-698) Timothy walked up to Bright, who was standing in his yard, and asked to see Andre.

(T4:696-697) Andre was still asleep since he did not go to work until 10:00 a.m. (T4:697) Timothy wanted to use the telephone, and Bright believed that he did use to telephone. (T4:696-697) Timothy remained at Bright's house about 15 to 20 minutes. (T4:699) Bright left to take Andre to work at 9:40 a.m., which was about one hour after he saw Timothy. (T4:698-699) Andre testified that Timothy did wake him up that morning because he wanted to use the telephone because he was having problems with his car. (T4:708-709) Andre remembered that Timothy wore his work clothes, and he did not see any blood on Timothy's clothes. (T4:704-705)

Aldwin Dees was friend of Timothy's and lived in the same neighborhood as Timothy and Lee-Lee Smith. (T4:717-718) Aldwin said that Timothy came to his house between 8:30 and 9:30 a.m. on the morning of homicide. (T4:718) Timothy knocked on the door and asked to use the telephone. (T4:718-719) Aldwin handed the cordless telephone outside to Timothy and told him to knock on the door when he finished. (T4:719)

Bertha Bradly, Timothy Hurst's mother, stated that she woke Timothy up for work at 7:40 a.m. on May 2d, 1998. (T5:792-793) Timothy was scheduled to work at Popeye's that morning. (T5:793) She next saw Timothy outside putting a battery in his car. (T5:794) The car had problems, and Timothy charged the battery out of the

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