## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TIMOTHY LEE HURST,

Appellant,

VS.

CASE NO. SC00-1042

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4583

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

It is well settled that a trial judge may find aggravators not submitted to the jury. Hoffman v. State, 474 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 1985); White v. State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981). Furthermore, this Court on appeal may consider aggravators supported by the evidence even though not argued to and not found by the trial court, in accordance with this Court's "responsibility to review the entire record in death penalty cases and the well-established appellate rule that all evidence and matters appearing in the

record should be considered which support the trial court's decision." Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568, 576-77 (Fla. 1986). If, as the State contends, the evidence is sufficient to support the avoid-arrest aggravator, the trial court did not err, in finding that aggravator even though not argued by the state below.

Hurst's reliance on <u>Hamilton v. State</u>, 678 So.2d 1228, 1232 (Fla. 1996) and <u>Cannady v. State</u>, 620 So.2d 165, 170 (Fla. 1993) is misplaced. Neither of those cases overruled <u>Echols</u>. In those cases, this Court merely held that, when it determined on appeal that none of the aggravators found by the trial court was valid, it would not uphold a death sentence on the basis of an aggravator not presented to or found by the trial court. Here, the trial court found two aggravators besides avoid arrest (HAC and murder committed during a robbery), the validity of which Hurst does not dispute. If, as the State contends and the trial court found, the avoid arrest aggravator is established by the evidence, then that aggravator may properly be considered by this Court along with the other two undisputedly valid aggravators in support of the trial court's decision to impose a death sentence. 16

<sup>16</sup> Although Hurst argues that he was deprived of the opportunity to defend against the applicability of the avoid-arrest aggravator, he raised no such objection at sentencing, nor moved to re-open the record to present such evidence, nor even suggested what evidence he could possibly have introduced to rebut this aggravator. Even now, Hurst does not tell us what evidence he would present if given the opportunity. Hurst's due process argument is not preserved for appeal and, moreover, no harm has been shown.

Hurst contends the evidence does not support the avoid arrest aggravator, noting that it is not enough to show merely that the victim knew the defendant. Here, however, the evidence does not show merely that the victim knew the defendant, or that Hurst may not have liked the victim. While his dislike for the victim may have been a contributory motive, Hurst planned the commission of the robbery ahead of time, according to statements he made to Thus, the robbery itself was no afterthought. 17 decided to seize the opportunity he had as an employee to get inside the restaurant before it opened, while no one would be there except the victim, Hurst had to consider how he would avoid being arrested for the robbery, as the victim knew and could readily identify him. Like the defendants in Jennings v. State, 718 So.2d 144 (Fla. 1998) and Riley v. State, 366 So.2d 19 (Fla. 1978), Hurst wore no mask or other disguise to prevent being identified. course, if he had done so, Harrison would not have let him into the restaurant. The solution Hurst chose, it seems obvious, was to murder Harrison. Clearly, he did not kill Harrison merely because she resisted, as he murdered her after rendering her helpless by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Significantly, Hurst brought a box cutter knife and black electrical tape to the restaurant. Although it is possible that he habitually carried the knife, it is difficult to imagine why he would have brought electrical tape into the restaurant except in connection with his plan to rob the restaurant and tie up Harrison.

binding her and gagging her with electrical tape. <sup>18</sup> In fact, Harrison was helpless at the outset, being less than five feet tall and weighing less than 90 pounds as against Hurst's 280-300 pounds. Hurst could readily have overcome any possible resistance and, as in <u>Jennings</u>, "any immediate threat [to Hurst] could have been eliminated by simply closing and securing the freezer door" before killing Harrison instead of afterwards. 718 So.2d at 151.

Moreover, although Hurst did not make the statement ahead of time that Jennings did, to the effect that if he ever committed a robbery he would leave no witnesses, Hurst did explain afterward that he had not wanted the victim to "see his face" (2T 322) - a comment which, given the fact that she had to see his face when she let him in the restaurant, can only be construed as a reference to eliminating her ability to identify him by eliminating her as a witness.

While Hurst may have been motivated in part by his dislike for Harrison, the evidence as a whole supports the trial courts' conclusion that a dominant motive for Harrison's murder was to avoid arrest by eliminating the only witness. <u>Trease v. State</u>, 768 So.2d 1050, 1055-56 (Fla. 2000) (avoid arrest aggravator properly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Should Hurst argue in reply that this statement is speculation, the State's response would be that Hurst would have had no reason to bind or gag the victim *after* killing her. The *only* reasonable inference is that he bound and gagged her and *then* killed her. While an aggravator may not be supportable by mere speculation, reasonable inferences are not only proper, but are a necessary and indispensable component of any proof.

found where victim knew defendant and defendant told another that the victim had to be killed because he could identify him). The trial court did not err in finding that this murder was committed to avoid arrest. Should this Court disagree for any reason, the State would contend that any error is harmless in light of the undisputed aggravators of murder committed during robbery and HAC and the minimal mitigation presented in this case. Jones v. State, 748 So.2d 1012, 1027 (Fla. 1999).

#### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN CONSIDERING AND WEIGHING PROPOSED MITIGATION.

The trial court evaluated ten potential mitigators in its sentencing order. The court gave seven of these potential mitigators at least some weight. On appeal, Hurst complains about only four of the court's ten findings, including three potential mitigators the trial court gave weight to (although not as much as Hurst would have liked), and one of which the trial court rejected.

It is clear that the trial court fully considered, thoughtfully analyzed, and expressly evaluated in its written sentencing order each of Hurst's proffered mitigating circumstances. In conducting this evaluation, the trial court is not required to find every proposed mitigator; instead, the trial court must "determine whether [the proffered mitigator] is supported by the evidence and whether, in the case of nonstatutory

factors, it is truly of a mitigating nature." Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1990). Moreover, there are "no hard and fast rules about what must be found in mitigation in any particular case . . . Because each case is unique, determining what evidence might mitigate each individual's sentence must remain with the trial court's discretion." <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990). Nor must a trial court assign any particular amount of weight to a mitigator it has found. The relative weight given to each mitigating factor is within the discretion of the trial court. In fact, "there are circumstances where a mitigating circumstance may be found to be supported by the record, but given no weight." <u>Trease v. State</u>, 768 So.2d 1050, 1055 (Fla. 2000) (emphasis supplied). So long as the trial court conducts a "thoughtful and comprehensive analysis," Walker v. State, 707 So.2d 300, 319 (Fla. 1997), of the defendant's proffered mitigators, the trial court's "determination of lack of mitigation will stand absent a palpable abuse of discretion." Foster v. State, 654 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1995). Accord, e.g., Bonifay v. State, 680 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1996) (decision as to whether a mitigating circumstance has been established, and the weight to be given to it if is established, are matters within the trial court's discretion); Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1994) (decision whether any mitigating circumstances had been established was within trial court's discretion); Arbelaez v. State, 626 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1993)

(trial court has broad discretion in determining applicability of mitigating circumstances). 19

Hurst is not entitled to appellate relief as to his sentence merely because he disagrees with the judgment of the trial court.

Lucas v. State, supra. He must show an abuse of the trial court's broad discretion. Ibid. He has failed to do so.

In fact, little evidence was presented in mitigation. Only Hurst's mother, father and sister testified. No testimony was presented about any drug or alcohol abuse by Hurst. No evidence

These cases are fully consistent with constitutional standards requiring "individualized sentencing." The premise explicitly underlying the United States Supreme Court's decisions in Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367, 108 S.Ct. 1860, 100 L.Ed.2d 384 (1988) and McKoy v. North Carolina, 494 U.S. 433, 110 S.Ct. 1227, 108 L.Ed.2d 369 (1990), which struck down unanimity requirements as to juries' mitigation findings, is that reasonable persons can differ both as to what circumstances are mitigating at all and, as well, as to the weight to be given to such circumstances. Thus, each juror must be allowed to determine for himself or herself what is mitigating. So long as the sentencer is not precluded as a matter of law from giving effect to proffered mitigation, the "requirement of individualized sentencing in capital cases is satisfied by allowing the jury to consider all relevant mitigating evidence." Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 494 U.S. 299, 307, 110 S.Ct. 1078, 108 L.Ed.2d 255 (1990). The Constitution "does not require a State to ascribe any specific weight to particular factors, either in aggravation or mitigation, to be considered by the sentencer." <u>Harris v. Alabama</u>, 513 U.S. 504, 115 S.Ct. 1031, 130 L.Ed.2d 1004, 1014 (1995). In fact, the Court's decisions "suggest that complete jury discretion is constitutionally permissible." <u>Buchanan v. Angelone</u>, U.S. , 118 S.Ct. 757, 761-62, 139 L.Ed.2d 702 (1998). <u>See</u>, also, <u>Burger v. Kemp</u>, 483 U.S. 794, 107 S.Ct. 3114, 97 L.Ed.2d 638 (1987) ("mitigation may be in the eye of the beholder"); Tuilaepa v. California, 512 U.S. 967, 114 S.Ct. 2630, 129 L.Ed.2d 750, 767 (1994) (Souter, J., concurring) ("refusing to characterize ambiguous evidence as mitigating or aggravating is . . . constitutionally permissible").

was presented of any deprived or abusive childhood. Nor did any mental health expert witnesses testify. Nor do we have any school records. The only evidence of Hurst's intellectual abilities comes from his family that, although he made average grades in school, he was a "little" slow. They also testified that he was nonviolent, was emotionally immature, and was a follower. The State will address the trial court's findings in order:

- 1. The proposed mitigator that "The Defendant acted under the substantial dominion of another person, Lee Lee Smith." The trial court rejected this proposed mitigator, finding that, instead of Hurst being under the dominion of Lee Lee, the true situation was the opposite (3R 486). Hurst does not object to this conclusion on appeal, and it is clearly supported by the evidence, given the difference in age and size (Hurst being older and much bigger), as well as Lee Lee's testimony and Hurst's own statement to police describing their activities with each other that morning.
- 2. The proposed mitigator that "The capacity of the Defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired." The only possible evidence to support this mitigator was testimony from his family that he was mentally a bit slow. Even assuming that to be the case (and there is absolutely no evidence in this

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 20}$  However, he was placed in charge of the other children in the family (5T 978).

record of his IQ or his educational attainments), no substantial impairment appears in this record. On the contrary, the evidence presented shows that Hurst planned a robbery and murder and carried out that plan at 8:00 a.m. in the morning while he was completely sober. The trial court deprived Hurst of no right by giving this proposed mitigator "little weight," and Hurst does not even contend otherwise, as he does not attack this finding on appeal.

- 3. The proposed mitigator that "The defendant exhibited good conduct throughout every phase of the trial." The trial court found this to be the case, although, in the court's view, good behavior would be expected given the ample security present during the course of the trial. The court did not err in giving this proposed mitigator "little weight," and, again, Hurst does not attack this finding on appeal.
- 4. The proposed mitigator that "The defendant has a good family background." The trial court found this not to be a mitigating factor and gave it no weight. Hurst argues that this finding was error because the "family background of a capital defendant is always a factor that a sentencing judge is legally required to consider." Initial Brief of Appellant at 41. But the trial court did consider this proposed mitigator; the court merely rejected it after considering it and deciding that Hurst's good family background did not mitigate his conduct in murdering Cynthia Harrison by stabbing her over 60 times during the course of a

robbery. Hurst's reliance on Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982) is inapposite. Eddings dealt with a case in which the trial court had been precluded as a matter of state law from giving mitigating effect to Eddings' deprived and abusive childhood. Nothing of the sort occurred here. Florida law explicitly authorizes trial judges to consider and weigh nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, and there is nothing in this record to indicate that the judge below failed to understand that he was not limited to the mitigators specifically enumerated in the statute. Nothing in Eddings holds that, having considered proposed mitigation, a sentencer must find it, and such an interpretation of Eddings would contradict consistent precedent to the contrary emanating from the United States Supreme Court in the almost 20 years since Eddings was decided. See footnote 19 of this Brief, and cases cited therein.

Moreover, this case is factually the antithesis of Eddings. Unlike Eddings, whose mother was an alcoholic and perhaps a prostitute, and who was emotionally disturbed as the result of his troubled and violent childhood, Hurst by his own evidence enjoyed a good childhood and a good family background and was not in any way emotionally disturbed. Although Hurst complains of the trial court's rejection of his good family background, he offers no explanation of how that good background mitigates or lessens his culpability for the crime he committed. Hurst was not deprived of

familial love as he was growing up. Nor was he deprived of moral quidance by responsible parents. Nor was he deprived of the necessities of existence. In short, he is not someone who can point to an abused or deprived childhood for at least a partial explanation for why he turned out wrong, or as a basis for holding him at least somewhat less than fully responsible for his actions. That being the case, and absent any explanation for why his childhood might somehow mitigate the brutal murder he committed, the State does not think the trial court erred in rejecting this proposed mitigator. Cf. Miller v. State, 770 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 2000) (court did not abuse its discretion in declining to find proposed mitigator of abusive childhood where evidence showed only occasional administration of corporal punishment that ceased when Miller was 13). Should this Court disagree, however, the State would contend that any error is harmless in this case, given the weighty aggravation and the minimal weight that this mitigator might have been entitled to at best. See Banks v. State, 700 So.2d 363, 365 (Fla. 1997) (upholding trial court's conclusion that Banks' good family background was not entitled to significant weight); Miller v. State, supra (error in failing to give mitigating wight to long-term alcohol and substance abuse was harmless given weighty aggravating factors present - prior violent felony and murder committed during robbery).

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